CHAPTER FOUR

BRICKYARDS, NURSERY, ABORETUM, FORESTRY SCHOOL, CAMPS, COTTAGES, YARRALUMLA HOUSE

AT
BRICKYARDSWESTRIDGE, YARRALUMLE910-

As early as 19 the FeddrahMinis@rddvitdoime Affgirs laid out his plans for the establishment of a
Brickworks in the area of the proposed Federal Capital City. [ Queanbeyan Age23.10.1910]. Early the following
year brickmaking experiments were carried out on shipmen ts of shale taken from the Yass-Canberra district. They
proved satisfactory. [ QueanbeyanAge 14.4.1911] The site chosen for the brickworks was at Yarralumla, the
property of Frederick Campbell. It was part of his ram paddock.

On 8 July 1912 Frederick Campbell wrote to the Director of Works giving permission for about 38 acres of his
property to be used for brickmaking. The area was gazetted 27 July 1912 and construction of the brickyards was
carried out shortly after by men housed in a camp somewhere near the railway station [information from Robyn
Donnelly whose father and grandfather, Frede rick & George Taylor, worked on the construction of the yards.] T he
first camp for workmen at the brickyard s was laid out on 13 June 1913.

The choice of the brickworkoés site marked this area,
Canberra settlements. The area was originally known as the Brickwork s or Brickyards until 1917 when a post office
was established in the area and Walter Burley Griffin renamed the area Westridge.® In 1927 when a number of
Canberra suburbs were renamed, Westridge was changed to Yarralumla. However the area continued to be known
as Westridge to the locals well into the 1950s when rapid e xpansion of the suburb began.

| ater

Problems relating to the choice of the sit dhatavereparaaitheer r ad s
Department al Pl an and not that of t BwnegMorning Hemrald 10 Mayrl®lé not e d

with a heading WASTE AT CANBERRA reports an outburst in the Federal Parliament by the Minister for the Post
MasterGener al 6 s Depart ment Thesewarhge systemhsedangeroast tkedvater scheme all
wrong, the roads poor, the power -house is in the wrong place, and the brickworks are in the residential

area... and continued, That there were no structures ot her than temporary buildings of weatherboard and
galvanised iron ...a massively built railway had been erected through one of the lake sites ...the brickworks were
in the midst of what is one of the fashionable residential areas and were three miles from t he railway line...

Westridge Settlement, like that of Acton, contained a mixture of temporary and permanent dwellings. It was also,
like Acton, a settlement with a mixture of classes. The dwellings consisted of:

e Temporary: wused by br i ckandsewd minees arm btloeys ae@rking on the construction
of the main intercepting sewer.

0 Tents (single men), humpies (married quarters).
0 ex-Molonglo buildings dboth single and married areas (along area of Banks Street}.

L] Permanent :

o few brick cottages (1921-22) in section 64 for brickyardds me

of the sewer works and a few weatherboards (1927) for men working in the area.

0 1927 Forestry School buildings & accommaodation for students: brick school erected in Banks
St and a two stor ey brick house for the Acting Principle [128]; cubicles for students & (3
brick shells of cottages used as Mess, Recreation and ablution blocks.

! The new name was to avoid confusion with the property of Yarraluml a and is probably named Westridge because
it was west of Stirling Ridge. On the early maps it is also marked as Westlake.
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e  Yarralumla Property

o Frederick Campbell 6s two storey homestead
o0 Two storey dairy house built by Young was renamed Riverview in 1913 by Corkhill family.
o Few small farm cottages and huts.

e Westridge was also the area where the Night Soil was emptied. The dumping area was in the vicinity
of the overpass of Adelaide Avenue where Kent Street Deakin joins Novar St [origina | name 0 Mountain
Way]. This area that covered around ten acres was surrounded by a circle of hedges and comments
were made that the clay soil created a problem.

BACKGROUND FEDERAL PERIOD

In 1913 Yarralumla property was taken over by the Commonwealth, Fr eder i ck Campbeldkndwenas or mer ho
Yarralumla House d remained empty of permanent occupants with the exception of caretakers and Miss Isabella

Southwell, housekeeper. She looked after visiting dignitaries, such as Walter Burley Griffin and politic ians until

alternative accommodation was made available at the Hotel Canberra. It opened in December 1924.

During 1926 Yarralumla House and the Prime Mininseadnesss Lodge
in May 1927 for the arrival of the Royal visitors and Prime Minister. Both dwellings were intended to be

temporary. Instead Yarralumla House remained as a residence for the Governor Generaland t he Pri me Mini st
Lodge is stildl in use. The or i gienclsinsthe drem of Stoling RidgeeSecanv er nor Ge
22, stirling Park, Yarralumla . This area has now been set aside as one of two possible sites for a new lodge dthe

other is Attunga Point. 2 At the time this area was chosen there were no provisions put in p lace to save heritage

areas. [see footnote and chapter on Westlake]
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2 The area of Stirling Park in particular the area now known as Stirling Ridge 8Block 22 Stirling Park Yarralumla &
now set aside for possible construction ofanew pr i me mi lodgesahdeorigihally marked as the area for the
per manent gover nor -gsamejoraite & the andasgeredeviidddl@ver, button wrinklewort and

the legless lizard. Itis also an area of gr assy woodland with trees that date well before European occupation. It is
an area that has several heritage listings - sewer vent, wildflower as well as being a significant area of land that

has the arrival of Europeans. The area of the park is a huge arc haeological site that bears the marks of human
occupation that includes Ngunawal dearly European and Construction period when it was known as Westlake and
home to 700 men and families working on the construction of the provisional parliament house etc.



Above | eft: 1927 map of Westlake area and right 1978 maps sh
Added to this map are the areas of Ngunawal mourning tree, Briar Farm,H owi es d Settl ement & Tr adesr

A number of tenant farms on the former Yarralumla and Klensendorlffe grant continued to be leased to tenant
farmers - on an annual basis. The Kaye family whose farm house was behind the Hotel Canberra remained until
1924 when their land was required for a golf cour se. The Kinlyside family of Briar Farm decided to leave in 1913,
leaving the house available for Commonwealth employees. In 1913 the former Yarralumla dairy was leased to
Robert Corkhill who had to move fro m his tenant farm on land where the Provisional Parliament House was later
built. The two storey dwelling that came with the lease was renamed  dRiverview.

In 1914 the permanent nursery under the supervision of Mr TCG Weston, was set up in Sheedy's Paddak, later
known as Westbourne. Men working at the newly formed nursery lived in old cottages in the grounds of Yarralumla
House. A new cottage was constructed for the foreman.

The Arboretum planted under the direction of Weston was the reason why Westrid ge was chosen in 1925 as the site
for the national Forestry School that opened in 1927 in Banks Street. In 1928 a new two storey Tudor style
dwelling built for the acting principal, Mr Charles Lane -Poole and family was ready for occupation.

In the teen ye ars of the last century Westridge was still sufficiently distanced from the central area of Canberra to
be a favoured training site for the cadets of the Royal Military College. Mrs Ethel Quigg, nee Sharp whose parents
lived in one of the cottages in the grounds of Yarralumla House recalled these camps and of finds of many a spoon
and fork following the closure of camps which then went into family use.

Above: Frank Boland photograph showing one of the annual RMC Camps at Yarralumla. Yarralumla house isin the
background right. NLA pic-an23764166v
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Above left Eric Milton Nicholls collection dnla pic-vn3603884s-18-v Construction of the Brickworks. Above right -
construction of the brickworks in 1913 3 courtesy Robyn Donnelly whose father and grandfather & Frederick Walter
Taylor and George Taylor worked on the building.

Above: Harry Connellc”)sipotog-vn3299806evf the Brickyards NLA pic

THE BRICKWORKS



The following newspaper articl es ar eydetailcsamelofthe contentporaryy espi ed s
information about the beginnin gs of the Brickworks. Lyall collected information from the various Queanbeyan

papers, which predate The Canberra Times that commenced printing in late 1926. Additional information is now

available on the National Library of Australia web site that has electronically scanned newspaper articles from the

19" century to 1954 (excluding Queanbeyan papers). However for those who wish to find out further information

about the early years of Westridge owords such as WESTRIDGE, BRICKWORKS, FORESTRY SCHOOL anr&Q8NE

used in the search section will prove fruitful to the researcher.

NEWPAPER ARTICLESL YALL GI LLESPI E6S CARDS:

Queanbeyan Age 24.1.1913: The bricks to be used in the public buildings are to be m ade by the Home Affairs
Department in the Territory. Plans are now being prepared for this phase of the work, but the preliminary will

be confined only to the making of bricks which will be used for construction the permanent kilns at which the
material t o be used in the public buildings will be made.

Queanbeyan Observer 11.2.1913: Brickworks at the Federal Capitol & Considerable interest attacks to the
brickmaking work that is being commenced by the Government on the Federal Capitol site; from the fact that the
entrance (establishment?) and costly nature of the plant to be put into operation there indicates that the

Government intends to supply from its own works a very substantial portion of the bricks that will be required in

the building of the new ci ty. The brickworks which are the first to be established by the Federal Government are
situated about two miles from the boundary of the Federal Capital territory and already a staff of workmen are

on the spot. Exhaustive tests as to the suitability of t  he slate for brickworks for brickmaking purposes and as to
the quality of deposits have resulted in satisfactorily. The total output of the works will be 15,000,000 bricks per
annum. The cost of the initial temporary plant at the brickworks will be only a few hundred pounds but it is
estimated that the ultimate cost of the complete machinery will run into 25,000 pounds.

Queanbeyan Observer 18.2.1913: The Minister for Home Affairs has approved of the purchase from a firm in
Sydney of an Australian brick -making machine and it will be delivered on the site of the brickworks of the Federal
Capitol within three weeks. There will be no delay in the manufacture of the first bricks and it is anticipated

that bricks for the making of the three open kilns will be turned out within a month from date. These kilns in
turn will be used for the making of large quantities of bricks required in the construction of the new city.

Queanbeyan Age 21.3.1913: Col David Miller, Administrator of the Federal Territory is quite pleased with the
Brickworks started within two miles of the proposed city. Suitable materials have been tested with excellent
results. The intention is to turn out 15 million bricks a year for the next seven years. These bricks will be

required for publi ¢ purposes only.

Queanbeyan Observer 17.6.1913: On the Yarralumla Estate recently required (?) extensive preparations are
being made on the brickmaking industry which will be all machine work, the machines to be driven by powerful
steam engines.

Queanbeyan Observer 23.9.1913: Federal Capitol dthe brickmaking plant is in full swing not far from
Yarralumla homestead and immense kilns are being erected from the present output for the millions of bricks
required in the near future.

Queanbeyan Observer 25.11.1913: The Government Brickworks have turned out 85,000 bricks. Half a million
will be used for the walls of the Power House and others in construction of the main sewer. The bricks re said to
be almost as good in quality as those from the Staffordshir e kilns, though they have not such an attractive face
appearance. This is considered immaterial however since the bricks are to be used below the ground

Queanbeyan Age 21.4.1914: Report of a visit of the Federal Treasurer Senator John Forrest to Canber ra.
Among the things he said. 0éThere is a brickmaking factory t
25/-t030/-per 1000¢é. 0

Queanbeyan Age 16.6.1914: At the open brick kilns (Canberra) 1,163,820 bricks have been made and it is
proposed to erect continuous kilns.



Queanbeyan Age 18.12.1914: In the Senate last Friday Senator Grant advised the Minister of Home Affairs upon
notice:

1. How many bricks had been manufactured at the Capitol site?
2. When is it intended to commence construction of cont inuous kilns for the manufacture of bricks?
3. How many kilns are to be constructed?
4. What is the estimated cost of constructing each kiln?
5.  What is the estimated output per kiln per annum?...
Senator Russell:

1. The answers are about 1,000,000.

2. Construction of t he first kiln is in active progress and the second one is proposed to be commenced
shortly.

Three

The estimated cost of the three with necessary brick machines, crushers and plant is 35,000 pounds.
Five millions

akrw

Queanbeyan Age 16.6.1914 At the open brick kilns (Canberra) 1,163,820 bricks have been made and it is
proposed to erect continuous kilns.

Queanbeyan Age 5.3.1915: It was announced in Melbourne on Monday by the Minister for Home Affairs Mr
Archibald that tenders have been accepted for the kiln maki ng plant to be erected at the Federal Capitol site.
Messrs Jacques (?) Bros of Richmond were the successful tenders for the three notary rock crushers at a cost of
502 pounds. Messrs Timmings and Gardiner of Sydney have been given an order for two grindin g mills to cost of
834 pounds. The tender of Mr George Foster for ironwork for the Staffordshire kiln was accepted, the price being
842 pounds. Mr Archibald explained that the three kilns will be capable of turning out 5,000,000 bricks a year
and that it will take 6 years or more to make the bricks which it is estimated will be required for Government
buildings.

Queanbeyan Age 14.9.1915 : The Staffordshire kiln brickmakers are approaching completion.

Queanbeyan Age 17.4.1917 : Two reports by Mr Blackett KC, the Royal Commissioner appointed by the Federal

Government to inquire into the management of the Federal Capital affairs were made available for publication

yesterday by Mr Watt Minister for Works and Railways. As to the brickworks, Mr Blackett said  that their cost was
excessive and they should never have been erected at Yarralu
observed his duty in informing the Minister of the postscrip
that in spite of these things the brickworks would prove worthy of all the money that had been spent on them.

WORLD WAR ONB1914-1918 08 Brickworks cease production 1917 -1921

Queanbeyan Age 20.9.1921: We have been shown a sample of the bricks made at the Federal Capitol Brickyards.
We have seen and visited some of the best works of the kind in the state and venture to say that nowhere in
Australia is a more perfect article made.

Queanbeyan Age 11.3.1921: & understand that the Brickworks at Canberraare nowinfullop er ati ond sai d Mr
Austin Chapman MHR. Mr Chapman has just arrived in the city for the Capitol site and is pleased with the

activity going on there. 6The bricks already made are being
went on, OTheedyi nagr eatproonccee with the erection of 10 workmends ¢
three more cottages near the Power House. Everything is being got ready for the erection of the hostel [Hotel

Canberra] and of the Administration Block in the Government  Centre and bricks are to be brought to the site of
these buildings.

Queanbeyan Age 16.6.1922 : Mr T Bates, late foreman at the Canberra Brickworks, has taken up duty this week
as manager of the Queanbeyan Brick and Tile Co.



Queanbeyan Age (West Ridge correspondent) 11.8.1922: The tile plant is being installed at the Brickworks and
should be started warming up before long.

Queanbeyan Age 1.9.1922 : The Minister for Works and Railways is getting worried are the huge stocks of six
million bricks heapedaround t he Feder al Brickworks. He says if they dondt
shut down the works and make this only with the plant now being installed.

Queanbeyan Age 5.3.1925: It was announced in Melbourne on Monday by the Minister for Home Af fairs Mr
Archibald that tenders have been accepted for the kiln making plant to be erected at the Federal Capitol site.
Messrs Jacques (?) Bros of Richmond were the successful tenders for the three notary rock crushers at a cost of
502 pounds. Messrs Timnings and Gardiner of Sydney have been given an order for two grinding mills to cost of
834 pounds. The tender of Mr George Foster for ironwork for the Staffordshire kiln was accepted, the price being
842 pounds. Mr Archibald explained that the three kiln s will be capable of turning out 5,000,000 bricks a year
and that it will take 6 years or more to make the bricks which it is estimated will be required for Government
buildings.

Queanbeyan Age 16.7.1925: In the House of Representatives recently Mr Lazza rine member for Werriwa asked

for the names of the experts who enquired into the Tile and Brickworks at Canberra. Mr Marr submitted the

following information which was received from the Federal Capitol Commission. The expert who reported on the

Brickwork s was Mr David Rogers of the Austral Brick Company of Sydney. The expert who reported on the tile

workswas Dr Wunderlich of the Wunderlich Tile Co of Sydneyé

Tabled Statement

Brickworks. The Canberra Brickworks has been turning out a brick of remarkably fine quality in fact a quality
unnecessary for ordinary construction workE©@g

Canberra Times 3.9.1926: A new pl ant which will double the output of the
Brickworks is expected to be producing in October. Large purchases aggregat ing 5,000,000 bricks have been

necessary meanwhile from other sources. The Commonwealth upon completion of its present plant will supply

6,000,000 bricks a year.

Above: Harry Trevillian at the Brickyards early 1920s. Courtesy of Harry Trevilian.

Canberra Times 3.9.1926: Report of a further closing down at the Brickworks. One unit only is to be kept
working because of the reduced work programme.

Canberra Times 26.12.1927: The new plant recently installed at tshe Federa
at Westridge is expected to be in full production within a few days and the works will then have an annual

production of more than 15,000,000 bricks besides a large quantity of tiles and other building materials. The

Staffordshire kiln s which have been operation for some years have a total capacity of 5,400,000 bricks a year

from the livery chambers installed. These are supplemented by 18 chambers of 4,000,000 capacity whose annual

production is stated at six million bricks. In addition to these there are five new Era Whittaker brick machines

which have a daily output of 11,000 bricks. The total production of bricks will therefore be in excess of fifteen

million bricks with the plant in full operation.



Canberra Times 20.3.1928: The brickworks of the Federal Capital Commission are to be closed down at the end
of the present month. About 60 men are to be affected. Meanwhile about 3,000,000 bricks are in stock and will
meet demands until such time as the re -opening of the works will be possible under ¢ onditions which will avoid
€(?) losses which now threaten.

Queanbeyan Age 27.9.1928: The Federal Capitol Commission recently suspended the manager of the Brickworks
at Canberra following allegations of irregularities and malpractice. The whole of the ch arges have been
thoroughly investigated and convinced that they were without foundation the Commission has reinstated the
manager.

1927 - OPENING OF FEDERAL PARLIAMENT, ARRIVAL OF THE PUBLIC SERVANTS

1927 was the year when the city was made ready to move into its Federal role. This was the year that a number of
permanent suburbs were renamed and amongst them was Westridge that was formerly renamed, Yarralumla.

However, Yarralumla continued to be known to the locals as Westridge until the 1950s when rapid development of
the suburb commenced. The following map is dated 1949 and shows the nucleus of the suburb that changed little
in size from 1927. On the right is a map of the area 2003.

Above left: Arrows dtop left Government House (former Yarral umla House); Top right dnursery; Next down &
Brickyards surrounded by plantation and bottom & Uriarra Road dthe arrow points to the section that is still in situ
along with the old entrance road into Yarralumla House. The small line marked from the bric  kworks between the
two arrows is the cutting where the rail line from the brickworks still marks the landscape. The circle that is off

the right is roughly the area of the nightsoil deposit. The road leading into Westridge is Novar Street (former
Mountain Way) and the road off to the left is Adelaide Avenue.



Above: new houses at Westridge 1920s or a little later. Photograph loaned by Mrs Jean Oldfield. On the righ tis a
photograph owned by Jeand6s daughter, Mrs Moya Campbell showi
Yarralumla 1950s.



Mud Map of Westridge (Yarralumla) 1920s
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WESTRIDGB THE SUBURB

Although Westridge was officially recognised as a suburb in 1927, it continued to be treated in a similar

‘.<\\ No L Sty (1gaz-(q24)

comd's Mess (Br wkj“““)

manner to

the temporary suburbs of Westlake, Causeway, Molonglo, Riverbourne, Russell Hill and Oaks Estate (formerly a
suburb of Queanbeyan]. Numerous articles in NAA, Canberra Community News and local papers voice the

concerns of the locals which inclu ded the neglect of the area dan out of sight out of mind mentality of

officialdom? High on the list of concerns was the ongoing need for basic facilities such as street lighting, kerbing

and guttering, a bus service and accommodation for the men who worke d in the brickyards and nursery.



In 1935, for example, the locals complained to the authorities that they wanted equality with other residents of
the territory. One result was that the remaining blocks in the sections of 58, 63 and 64 were put up for pri ~ vate
lease. This sale in effect, recognised Westridge as a suburb of Canberra, but did little to provide the required
services and improvements.

Like Acton, Westridge had a mixture of accommodation that included temporary and permanent.

e 19136c1921Camps-Si ngl e mends tents, and married mends humpi e
camps at least one Sewer Camp dreference made to sewer men camping in Yarralumla woolshed]
e 1921-1922- small brick cottages (Section 64); ex -Molonglo cottages for married men and single men;
No 2 Sewer Campdtents.
e 1927-new brickyardsd single mends & married (timber) camp
e Forestry School students - three shells brick cottages in Solander Place used as Mess, Recreation
Room and Ablution blocks for forestry school students. The forestry students were provided with
lined cubicles erected behind the cottages; timber barracks known as Waldorf for forestry school
students; Westridge House constructed for head of forestry school.
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Above; Details from two FCC plans for the cottages in Solander Place erected for Mess, Ablution and Recreation
blocks for the Forestry School students. Below the cubicles and bottom left one of the cottages in Solander Place
and right d Westridge House, home of the Lane Pode family.

THE BRICKYARD8PRODUCTION 19131927

By 1July 1913 the machinery portion of the brickworks was fully operational. In the week ending 21 June 1913,
44,000 green (unfired) bricks were produced and it was expected to eventually produce 50,000 b ricks per week.
The first bricks were fired in temporary kilns later replaced by permanent that included for example in 1916 the
Staffordshire Kiln. However, the promise of continued production was interrupted by World War One that shut
down the works in1916, They did not reopen until in 1921 when brickmaking recommenced. The following year tile
making plant installed.
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Above: Dump in area of Block 2, Section 128 Stirling Park Yarralumla (former Westlake) that shows broken bricks

and part of atile. The frog markings used in the twentieshad Cé Weal t h a@&abbéderaa COwealt h.
number did not have frog markings. Examples of these bricks can be found in the web,

http:/hiddencanberra.w _ebs.com/historyofcanberra.htm that also show examples of the 1930s bricks which have

the frog marking CANBERRA Examples of these bricks can still be seen in Stirling Park Yarralumla and include the

post World War Two bricks with the frog CB(CanberraBr i c ks ) . Bel ow |l eft brick Iine in t
Ablution buildings on Block 3, Section 128 Stirling Park, Yarralumla. Below right: 1920s brick on the same site. In

the park are also pavers of the type used in the grounds of the Hotel Canberr a and probably the Provisional
Parliament House.?

Several flat tiles done shown below and a rubbing from the other dwer e f ound on the Tradesmends
Block area. Dept of Wor ks & ROway Br.d ckworks Federal Territory

3| came across one article in The Canberra Times about visitors pinching bricks with the frog mark of CANBERRAs
souvenirs. This frog was used in the 1930s. The bricks used for the construction of the Provisional Parliament
House either no letteringor G WEAL TH CANBANRBREARRA COWEALTH.
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http://hiddencanberra.webs.com/historyofcanberra.htm

Above is a speciglurpose brick given to me by Reg Newcombe whose father worked at the Brickyards. A similar one was
F2dzy R Yy S| NJ DS & RBEWRestakE In $é deelk Balaiv & another view of the brick. The other side of the brick is
solid.

Below ¢ 1930sbrick with CANBERR#og.
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